
12/10/24 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 1 of 4 
 

City of Guyton, Georgia 
City Council  

Public Hearing and Regular Meeting 
December 10, 2024 at 7:00 P.M. 

 
Guyton City Hall 

310 Central Boulevard 
Guyton, GA 31312 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2.  Public Hearing 
 

 Annexation and Rezoning of Parcel ID 02940041 
(4.33 Acres / B-2 → C-3) 

 
3.  Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  
 
4. Consideration to Approve the Agenda 
 
5. Consideration to Approve the Minutes 
 

 11/12/24 Regular Meeting 
 

6.         Reports from Staff and Committees 
 

 Police Department    Kelphie Lundy 
 Fire Department    Clint Hodges 
 Public Works/Water/Sewer  EOM 
 Planning and Zoning     Lon Harden 
 Industrial Development   Lon Harden 
 Historical Commission    Lucy Powell 
 Leisure Services    Lula Seabrooks 
 Library Board    Jim Odum 
 Downtown Development   Miller Bargeron, Jr. 

 
7. Old Business 
 

A. Second reading and consideration to approve Ordinance 2024-09, amending the City 
of Guyton Zoning Ordinance to add liquor stores as a C-1 permitted use 

*Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval on 11//19/24 
 

B. Second reading and consideration to approve Ordinance 2024-10, regarding 
annexation and rezoning of Parcel ID 02940042, Pillar Real Estate LLC  

*Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval on 10/29/2024 



12/10/24 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 2 of 4 
 

 
8. New Business 
 

A. First reading of Ordinance 2024-11, regarding annexation and rezoning of Parcel ID 
02940041, Forklift Tire Specialist LLC 
 

B. Consideration to approve Resolution 2024-20, authorizing participation in an amicus 
brief in the Chang V. City of Milton appeal 
 

C. Consideration to approve Resolution 2024-21, adding membership in a GIRMA Fund 
as it relates to the Georgia First Responder PTSD Program 

 
D. Consideration to approve Resolution 2024-22, amending the City of Guyton 

Employment Handbook (“Paid Time Off (PTO) & Benefits,” “Using PTO,” and 
“PTO ‘Sell Back’”) 

 
E. Consideration to approve Change Order #2 for the Guyton LAS Sprayfield 

Improvement Project in the amount of $19,664.38 
 

F. Consideration to approve Resolution 2024-23, which repeals Resolution 2024-19, 
which amended the City of Guyton Employee Appeal Procedure 

 
G. Consideration to authorize the mayor to execute an audit engagement letter from 

Lanier, Deal, Proctor & Bloser to perform the Fiscal Year 2024 audit 
 

H. Consideration to authorize the city attorney to research options to lease the Guyton 
Gymnasium to the Guyton Downtown Development Authority 

 
I. Consideration to approve a $500.00 Christmas bonus for all city employees  
 
J. Consideration to approve a 2.6% cost-of-living adjustment for all city employees, 

effective on January 8, 2025 
 
K. Consideration to approve a 7.0% hourly pay rate increase for all POST-certified city 

police officers, effective on January 8, 2025  
 

L. Consideration to approve the 2025 Earth Day Festival Proposal from Effingham 
Georgia Green 

 
M. Consideration to approve AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC Agreement 

 
9. General Government 
 

 GDOT TAP Project Discussion 
 Walking Trail Lighting Project Discussion 

 
10.  Public Participation 
 

 John DeBeer (Noise Concern) 
 
 



12/10/24 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 3 of 4 
 

 
 

11. Dates to Remember 
 

 Saturday, December 14, 2024, Guyton Christmas Parade at 11:00  A.M. —  
Guyton Walking Trail, 310 Central Boulevard, Guyton, GA 31312 
 

 Wednesday, December 18, 2024, Downtown Development Authority Meeting at  
10:00 A.M. — Guyton City Hall, 310 Central Boulevard, Guyton, GA 31312 

 
 Wednesday, December 18, 2024, Blood Drive from 1:00 P.M. until 6:00 P.M. — 

Guyton Gymnasium, 505 Magnolia Street, Guyton, GA 31312 
 

 Tuesday and Wednesday, December 24-25, 2024, Guyton City Hall closed in  
observance of Christmas 

 
 Tuesday, January 14, 2025, Guyton City Council Meeting at 7:00 P.M. —  

Guyton City Hall, 310 Central Boulevard, Guyton, GA 31312 
 
12. Consideration to Adjourn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



12/10/24 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Rules of Decorum for All Meetings 
 
The purpose of the Rules of Decorum is to foster an atmosphere of civil and courteous discourse, 
even and especially when discussing contentious topics, at all meetings held by the City of 
Guyton. 
 
(A) General rules applicable to all (Mayor and City Council, Staff, Members of the Public) 

1) Each speaker should refrain from personal attacks, foul or abusive language, and will 
maintain a civil and courteous manner and tone. 

2) During designated times for members of the public to speak, members of the public will 
be permitted 10 minutes to discuss topics.  After 10 minutes of discussion on a topic, 
members of the public will be limited to 3:00 minutes speaking time. The Mayor or 
presiding officer shall have the authority to grant additional speaking time. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, during public hearings involving zoning decisions, 
members of the public will have no less than 10 minutes to speak in favor, and no less 
than 10 minutes to speak in opposition. 

3) Members of the audience will respect the rights of others and will not create noise or 
other disturbances that will disrupt or disturb persons who are addressing the Mayor and 
Council or Committee or Board or Commission, or members of those bodies who are 
speaking, or otherwise impede the orderly conduct of the meeting. 

 
(B) Additional Rules for Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards or Commissions 

1. The Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will 
conduct themselves in a professional and respectful manner at all meetings. 

2. Questions for staff or individuals or other Council, Committee, Board or Commission 
members will be directed to the appropriate person to answer.  Members of the Mayor 
and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will attempt to 
answer or address questions presented one at a time without attempting to talk over 
another member. 

3. Members of the Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or 
Commissions are always free to criticize or question policies, positions, data, or 
information presented. However, members of the Mayor and City Council, Committees, 
Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will not attack or impugn the person presenting. 

 
(C) Enforcement 
The Mayor or presiding officer has the authority to enforce each of the Rules of Decorum 
regarding members of the public. If any Rule is violated, the Mayor or presiding officer will give 
the speaker a warning, citing the Rule being violated, and telling the speaker that a second 
violation will result in a forfeiture of the right to speak further. The Mayor or presiding officer 
also may have the offending speaker removed from the meeting if the misconduct persists. The 
Mayor or presiding officer shall not have any power under this provision regarding a Council, 
Committee, Board or Commission member. 





















1 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-09 
 
AN ORDINANCE BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF GUYTON TO 
AMEND THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA ZONING ORDINANCE; TO PROVIDE 
FOR NOTICE; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Guyton, Georgia is authorized by 
O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3 to adopt ordinances relating to its property, affairs and local government; 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council are authorized to amend the City of Guyton, Georgia Zoning 
Ordinance from time to time and where necessary to maintain adequate regulations; 
 
WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Guyton, Georgia hereby resolve 
to amend the City of Guyton, Georgia Zoning Ordinance; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, in a regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority 
thereof, as follows: 
 
Section 1. The City of Guyton, Georgia Zoning Ordinance Article 6 – Intent of Land Use Districts 
and Specific Land Use District Regulation, Section 609 – C-1, Central Business District shall be 
amended and restated to read as follows:  
 
 Sec. 609. C-1, Central Business District. 

 
District Intent. The C-1 Central Business District is intended to protect and promote 
suitable areas for business and commercial uses which benefit from proximity to 
each other; to encourage the eventual elimination of uses inappropriate to a central 
business area; and to encourage the intensive development of centralized business 
center for the City of Guyton. 
 
[A.--C. Reserved.] 
 
D. Uses Permitted. The following uses shall be permitted in the C-1, Central 
Business District: 
 

(1) Generally recognized retail business which supply commodities on the 
premises and without outdoor display of goods, including, but not limited to, 
groceries, drugs, clothing, or hardware; 
(2) Personal service establishments which perform services on the premises, 
including, but not limited to, repair shops (radio, television, shoes, upholstery, 
etc.) and beauty parlors or barber shops; 



2 
 

(3) Offices available for the transaction of general business but excluding retail 
and manufacturing uses, including, but not limited to, banks, loan companies, 
insurance offices and real estate offices; 
(4) Professional services, including the following: medical, offices dentists, 
legal and similar allied professions; 
(5) Public offices, such as Post Offices, city administration, museums and 
similar governmental offices; 
(6) Private clubs, fraternal organizations and lodge halls; 
(7) Restaurants, grills, delicatessens, and similar eating establishments for full 
service and takeout, but not including drive-in types; 
(8) Hotels and boardinghouses; 
(9) Accessory uses and structures; 
(10) Liquor Stores.  

 
E. Special Permit Uses. The following uses may be permitted in accordance with 
the provisions contained in Article Ten and if additional conditions which may be 
required are met: 
 

(1) Automobile repair shop; 
(2) Convenience Stores; 
(3) Gas station; 
(4) Entertainment Facilities, such as movie theaters, game halls, and civic 
centers; 
(5) Feed and Grain Sale and Storage; 
(6) Hotels; 
(7) Laundromats and dry cleaners; 
(7.1) Liquor Stores; 
(8) Motels; 
(9) Parking lots (private and public), not including those areas required by 
Article Eight, Off-Street [Automobile and Vehicle] Parking and Loading; 
(10) Public and private schools and religious institutions; 
(11) Restaurants with drive through facility; 
(12) Shopping Centers; 
(13) Small engine repair shop; 
(14) Truck Terminals; 
(15) Vending Machine Structures; 
(16) Waterfront facilities pertaining to traditional fishing, shrimping, and 
boating activities; 
(17) Wholesale Business, such as a warehouse and bulk sales facilities; 
(18) Public utility installations and buildings, including water towers, electric 
transformer stations, and water and sewage pumping stations, provided that no 
open storage is permitted at the site; the area is fenced in by a wall or fence at 
least six feet in height; and landscaped strip not less than five (5) feet in width 
is planted and maintained. 

 



3 
 

F. Area Regulations. Unless otherwise specified in this ordinance, uses permitted 
in the C-1, Central Business District shall conform to the following requirements: 
 

(1) Minimum lot area: 4,000 square feet; 
(2) Minimum lot width: 50 feet; 
(3) Minimum front yard setback: 50 feet; 
(4) Minimum side yard: none, unless the parcel is adjacent to a residential 
district, in which case the minimum side yard shall be fifteen (15) feet; 
(5) Minimum rear yard: none, unless the parcel is adjacent to a residential 
district, in which case the minimum rear yard shall be fifteen (15) feet; 
(6) Maximum percentage of lot coverage: 100%; 
(7) Maximum building height: 45 feet; 
(8) Off-street parking and loading requirements as provided in Article Eight. 

 
 

Section 2. If any section, clause, sentence, or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 
way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. 
 
Section 3. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 
 
Section 4. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 
 
 
 
Approved this the _____ day of ____________, 2024. 
 
 
CITY OF GUYTON 
 
 
__________________________ 
ANDY HARVILLE, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________ 
FABIAN MANN, City Clerk 



1 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA   
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-10 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX CERTAIN PROPERTY INTO THE CITY OF GUYTON, 
GEORGIA PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 36 OF TITLE 36 OF THE OFFICIAL CODE OF 
GEORGIA ANNOTATED, AND TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE AND 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA, AS AMENDED, TO 
REZONE CERTAIN PROPERTY CURRENTLY KNOWN AS EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
PARCEL NO. 02940042 FROM EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING CLASSIFICATION 
AR-1 TO CITY OF GUYTON ZONING CLASSIFICATION C-1; TO REPEAL ALL 
ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
GUYTON, GEORGIA in a regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof, 
as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. That area contiguous to the City of Guyton, currently known as Effingham 

County Parcel No. 02940042 is hereby annexed into the City of Guyton and is 
made a part of said city. 

 
SECTION 2. That the zoning ordinance and Official Zoning Map of the City of Guyton, Georgia, 

as amended, be amended so that Parcel No. 02940042 (currently zoned Effingham 
County zoning classification AR-1), shall be rezoned to City of Guyton zoning 
classification C-1. 

 
SECTION 3. That the City Zoning Official and/or the City Clerk of Guyton is instructed to send 

within 30 days of the effective date of this ordinance an annexation report required 
under O.C.G.A. § 36-36-3 to: (1) the governing authority of Effingham County; (2) 
the Georgia Department of Community Affairs; and (3) the United States Census 
Bureau. The annexation report shall contain all information required under 
O.C.G.A. § 36-36-3. 

 
SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
SECTION 5. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 
 
 
 
 

 
SO ORDAINED, this _____ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
 



2 
 

         CITY OF GUYTON 
 
         __________________ 
         Andy Harville, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
______________________ 
Fabian Mann, City Clerk 



1 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA   
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-11 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX CERTAIN PROPERTY INTO THE CITY OF GUYTON, 
GEORGIA PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 36 OF TITLE 36 OF THE OFFICIAL CODE OF 
GEORGIA ANNOTATED, AND TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE AND 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA, AS AMENDED, TO 
REZONE CERTAIN PROPERTY CURRENTLY KNOWN AS EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
PARCEL NO. 02940041 FROM EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING CLASSIFICATION  
B-2 TO CITY OF GUYTON ZONING CLASSIFICATION C-3; TO REPEAL ALL 
ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
GUYTON, GEORGIA in a regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof, 
as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. That area contiguous to the City of Guyton, currently known as Effingham 

County Parcel No. 02940041 is hereby annexed into the City of Guyton and is 
made a part of said city. 

 
SECTION 2. That the zoning ordinance and Official Zoning Map of the City of Guyton, Georgia, 

as amended, be amended so that Parcel No. 02940041 (currently zoned Effingham 
County zoning classification B-2), shall be rezoned to City of Guyton zoning 
classification C-3. 

 
SECTION 3. That the City Zoning Official and/or the City Clerk of Guyton is instructed to send 

within 30 days of the effective date of this ordinance an annexation report required 
under O.C.G.A. § 36-36-3 to: (1) the governing authority of Effingham County; (2) 
the Georgia Department of Community Affairs; and (3) the United States Census 
Bureau. The annexation report shall contain all information required under 
O.C.G.A. § 36-36-3. 

 
SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
SECTION 5. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 
 
 
 
 

 
SO ORDAINED, this _____ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
 



2 
 

         CITY OF GUYTON 
 
         __________________ 
         Andy Harville, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
______________________ 
Fabian Mann, City Clerk 



1 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2024-20 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GUYTON (the “CITY”) AUTHORIZING 

PARTICIPATION IN AN AMICUS BRIEF IN THE  
CHANG V. CITY OF MILTON APPEAL 

 
 WHEREAS, there is presently pending before the Court of Appeals and/or Supreme Court of 
Georgia an appeal of a civil lawsuit that, at the trial court level, was referred to as Chang, et. al. v. City 
of Milton, State Court of Fulton County, Case No. 18EV004442; 
 
 WHEREAS, the case involves a claim of liability against the City of Milton for personal injuries 
due to a 2016 vehicle collision with a fixed obstruction (a masonry planter) located on City-owned right 
of way where the obstruction was outside the motoring lanes of travel; 
 
 WHEREAS, the masonry planter had been at the same location since 1992 and had never been 
the subject of a complaint or prior accident;  
 
 WHEREAS, at the trial court, the City of Milton was found to be partially at fault and a jury 
awarded money damages against the City of Milton of $35,000,000; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Court of Appeals affirmed the findings of the trial court, City of Milton v. 
Chang, et. al., 2024 WL 4195584 (Chang appellate ruling); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Court of Appeals ruled that the “planter…was a hazard for vehicles leaving the 
travel lanes” and that its presence “renders the use of these thoroughfares more hazardous;” 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY is concerned by the Court of Appeals decision finding that a municipality 
may be liable for fixed obstructions located outside the motoring lanes of travel where the obstruction 
had never been the subject of a prior collision or complaint; 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY believes the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with existing legal 
precedent and should be overturned; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY believes the financial implications of the Court of Appeals decision could 
be devastating for Georgia municipalities. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the CITY does hereby authorize participation 

in an amicus brief before the Georgia Supreme Court asking that the Chang appellate ruling be taken by 
the Supreme Court and reversed.  An amicus brief so tendered may include the City’s name as a 
participating party. 

 
 
 
 



2 
 

SO RESOLVED, this ___________, day of ___________________, 2024. 
 
       CITY OF GUYTON 
 
 

        _________________________________ 
       Andy Harville, Mayor 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________________ 
Fabian Mann, City Clerk 



CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2024-21 
 
A RESOLUTION TO ADD MEMBERSHIP IN A FUND OF GEORGIA INTERLOCAL 

RISK MANAGEMENT AGENCY (GIRMA) 

WHEREAS, the Public Entity of City of Guyton, located in Effingham County, Georgia 
("Public Entity") is a current member of the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Agency 
(hereafter GIRMA), an interlocal risk management agency formed pursuant to Chapter 85 of Title 
36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority of Public Entity is currently a member of a GIRMA Fund 
and desires to add membership in an additional GIRMA Fund; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authority of Public Entity has reviewed the Fund Election Form 
attached as Appendix A and the Application and Participation Agreement applicable to the Fund 
and finds that it is in the best interest of its residents for Public Entity to be a member of the Fund 
indicated on the Fund Election Form; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of Public Entity: 

 
1. The Mayor of Public Entity is authorized to act on behalf of Public Entity to elect 

membership in the Fund identified in the Election Form attached as Appendix A by 
executing the Application and Participation Agreement for such GIRMA Fund. 

2. The Mayor of  Public Entity is designated as Public Entity's representative to 
GIRMA for purposes of Fund participation. 

3. Public Entity may change its representative by making a written request to Georgia 
Municipal Association, Inc., the Program Administrator for GIRMA 

4. This resolution shall be effective on the date of adoption. 

 
SO RESOLVED, this ________________, day of __________________, 2024. 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 

 

        ________________________________ 

        Andy Harville, Mayor 

 

 
Attest:   

 Fabian Mann, City Clerk 



 

1 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

Georgia First Responders’ PTSD Program 
Offered through GMA and ACCG Insurance Programs 

Program FAQ 
 

This document provides information on GMA and ACCG’s Georgia First Responder PTSD Program 

(GFRPTSD).  For additional questions, contact GFRPTSD@lockton.com and provide your contact 
information to schedule a follow-up call.  If you prefer to speak with a Program representative, call 
Lindsey Albright at 706.877.6400 or Meghan Murray at 678.361.0886. 

 

Information about the statutorily required benefits in O.C.G.A. § 45-25-1 et seq.(2024): 
 

Q. What was the purpose of HB 451 (2024)? 

A. The Ashley Wilson Act (the Act or HB 451) requires all public entities in Georgia to offer a 
supplemental benefit program for eligible first responders diagnosed with post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD) resulting from exposure to line of duty traumatic events. It creates two once-

per-lifetime financial safety nets to assist with uninsured costs associated with PTSD treatment 
and recovery.  A first responder may access the benefits quickly and confidentially without 
worry over stigma or job loss. The Act does not impact employer health plans, which are 
required to provide coverage for PTSD and other mental health conditions.  

 

Q. What is the effective date of the Act? 

A. The effective date of the Act is January 1, 2025.  That is the date on which public entities are 

required to offer the benefits. An eligible first responder diagnosed with PTSD arising from a 

qualifying traumatic event that occurred on or after July 1, 2024, may submit a claim on or after 

January 1, 2025, and must also submit proof that a diagnosis of PTSD was made on or after 

January 1, 2025. 

 

Q. Doesn’t workers’ compensation pay for occupational PTSD? 

A. In Georgia, a first responder may file a claim for occupational PTSD under workers’ 

compensation provided the PTSD follows from or because of a physical injury in the line of duty.  

However, the workers’ compensation system is not designed to address and treat mental 

injuries.  The system does not meet the first responders’ confidentiality needs since employers 

and supervisors are notified of PTSD claims and does not allow a first responder to choose their 

own mental health care providers.  

 

 

 



 

2 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

Q. Doesn’t a first responder’s health plan pay for treatment of PTSD? 

A, By law, employer health benefit plans are required to cover mental health treatment .  But 

employer health plans do not cover all costs associated with treatment and recovery such as 

deductibles, co-pays, and out-of-network treatment costs. 

 

Q. How does the Act define PTSD? 

A. The Act defines PTSD as an anxiety disorder caused by experiencing or being exposed to a 

traumatic event and which satisfies the clinical diagnostic criteria set forth in the American 

Psychiatric Association’s Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders in effect January 

1, 2024. 

 

Q. How does the Act define a First Responder who can be eligible for benefits? 

A. The Act defines eligible first responder as a first responder who experienced or was exposed to 

a traumatic event during the normal course of performing regular occupational or volunteer 

duties on behalf of a public entity and such experience resulted in PTSD, if the first responder 

received a diagnosis of PTSD arising from such experience and exposure no later than two years 

after the traumatic event.  

 

Q. How does the Act define a First Responder? 

A. Under the Act, First Responder means any of the following: 
 

• Communications Officer • Correctional Officer 

• Emergency Medical Professional • Emergency Medical Technician 

• Firefighter • Highway Emergency Response Operator 

• Jail Officer • Juvenile Correctional Officer 

• Peace Officer (including law 
enforcement officer with the 
Department of Natural Resources) 

 

• Probation Officer 

Q. What are the benefits required under the Act? 
A. The Act requires two once-per-lifetime benefits. The first is a $3,000 lump-sum benefit paid 

following diagnosis of occupational PTSD by a qualified diagnostician.  The second is a long-term 
disability benefit if the eligible first responder is no longer able to perform their duties as a first 
responder due to their PTSD diagnosis: 

• The disability benefit begins 90 days following a first responder’s inability to continue 
regular occupational or volunteer duties as a first responder due to the covered condition, 

despite receipt of appropriate treatment.  



 

3 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

• The disability benefit is paid monthly for up to 36 months. 

• Paid first responders receive 60% of their monthly pay to a maximum of $5,000 per month. 

• Volunteer first responders receive $1,500 per month. 
 

Q. How is Covered Condition defined under the Act? 
A. The Act provides benefits for eligible first responders with a covered condition of PTSD that is 

the direct result of an experience of or exposure to a traumatic event during the normal course 

of their regular occupational or volunteer duties on behalf of a public entity.  
 
Q. How does the Act define a Traumatic Event? 
A. The Act defines a traumatic event as an actual or threatened death, serious injury, or act of 

sexual violence that occurs after July 1, 2024, and which the first responder experienced or was 
exposed to during the normal course of the first responder’s regular occupational or volunteer 
duties on behalf of the public entity. In cases involving multiple traumatic events occurring after 

July 1, 2024, the traumatic event is the most recent event determined by the qualified 
diagnostician to be related to the symptoms of PTSD. 
 

Q. How does the Act define Qualified Diagnostician? 
A. Qualified diagnosticians are psychiatrists, psychologists, and physicians who are duly 

authorized to practice in Georgia and are certified in a medical specialty appropriate for trauma 

related mental health diagnoses. 
 
Q. How does the Act ensure that a first responder can get the benefits confidentially?  
A. The Act requires that the first responder be able to obtain the  lump sum benefit confidentially 

in a manner similar to using health insurance to pay for mental health treatment or using 
employee assistance program benefits and be able to obtain the long term disability benefit 
confidentially in a manner similar to obtaining other disability benefits for mental health 

conditions. The Act provides that all communications between the first responder and the 
administrator or insurer are confidential and privileged.  

 

Q. If an employer learns of a first responder’s claim, can the employer use that information for 
employment purposes?  

A. No. The Act states: “In no event shall information solely about an individual’s diagnosis, claims, 

or benefits be used for any employment action.” 
 
 

 



 

4 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

Q. How would a first responder obtain a PTSD diagnosis submitted in support of their claim? 
A. A first responder’s primary care physician can recommend a qualified diagnostician. In addition, 

a first responder can call the customer service number on their major medical health plan ID 
card for help locating an in-network qualified diagnostician. In many cases, qualified 
diagnosticians offer virtual appointments that eliminate the need to travel.  

 

Q. Following a traumatic event, how much time does a first responder have to obtain a PTSD 
diagnosis from a qualified diagnostician? 

A.  A first responder has up to 24 months following a traumatic event to obtain a PTSD diagnosis 

from a qualified diagnostician and file a claim for the supplemental benefits. 
 
Q. Following end of service or retirement, how much time does a first responder have to obtain 

a PTSD diagnosis from a qualified diagnostician and file a claim? 
A.  An eligible First Responder may file a claim for the supplemental benefits up to 24 months 

following end of service provided the traumatic event resulting in the PTSD occurred when the 

First Responder was in active service and a diagnosis is received within 24 months of the 
traumatic event. 

 

Q. The Act says the traumatic event date must be on or after July 1, 2024, but the Act is not 
effective until January 1, 2025. How does this work?  

A. These dates create a temporary transition period. The Act’s purpose is to encourage first 
responders to promptly seek treatment for symptoms of PTSD. If a first responder is already 

receiving treatment for PTSD arising from a traumatic event that occurred between July 1, 2024 
and January 1, 2025, the first responder will need to obtain a qualifying diagnosis of PTSD 
arising from that event on or after January 1, 2025 to be eligible for benefits. The waiting period 

for disability benefits cannot start before January 1, 2025.  
 
Q. How does the Act address cumulative trauma or the witnessing of traumatic events over 

time? 
A. In cases involving multiple traumatic events occurring on or after July 1, 2024, the traumatic 

event is the most recent traumatic event determined by the qualified diagnostician to be 

related to the symptoms of PTSD. 
 
Q. Are benefits provided under the Act taxable? 
A. As the benefits are provided by the employer on behalf of the first responder, the federal 

government considers the benefits a form of taxable income.  The State of Georgia waived state 
taxation of the benefit.  



 

5 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

 
Q. Is the PTSD lump-sum benefit reduced if a first responder is receiving benefits from sources 

outside of the program? 
A. No. 
 
Q. Is the PTSD disability benefit reduced if a first responder receives disability benefits from 

sources outside of the program? 
A. The PTSD disability benefit would be reduced if a first responder receives disability benefits 

from an employer funded group long-term disability plan or workers’ compensation.  The PTSD 

disability benefit would not be reduced if the first responder received disability benefits  from 
insurance paid by the first responder. 

 

Q:  If a first responder has received the once-per-lifetime lump sum and disability benefits, would 
they be eligible for a second set of benefits if they switched employers in the future? 

A. No. An eligible first responder is not entitled to more than the once-per-lifetime benefits. 

 

Administration of the GMA and ACCG Programs 
 

Q. Does GMA and ACCG plan to offer insurance coverage compliant with the Act? 
A. GMA and ACCG have partnered with MetLife to design and implement a highly customized 

insurance program compliant with the Act.   

 
Q. Who pays the cost of coverage under the program? 
A. A public entity pays the cost of the program on behalf of its first responders.   The Act defines 

public entity as a department, agency, board, bureau, commission, authority, or instrumentality 

of the State of Georgia, any local government or authority, including a county, municipality, or 
consolidated government in this state, or any other political division in this state.  Such term 
includes a school district, independent school district, or other local school system in this state . 

 

Q. Is a public entity required to purchase the PTSD insurance from GMA or ACCG Programs? 

A. No.  A public entity may purchase the PTSD insurance from other private insurance companies 

or self-insure the coverage upon approval from the Georgia Office of Commissioner of 

Insurance and Safety Fire. 

 

 

 



 

6 | P a g e                                                           E d i t i o n  0 7 . 2 9 . 2 4   

 

Q. If a public entity chooses to participate in the GMA or ACCG programs, how often will it 

be billed for cost of the coverage? 

A. GMA, ACCG and MetLife are still finalizing the premium invoicing process. At this time, we 

expect that the GMA and ACCG programs will bill a participating public entity twice annually for 

50% of the annual cost. 

 

Q. If a public entity wants to participate in the GMA or ACCG programs, how does it obtain a 
quote? 

A. To obtain a quote, the public entity would contact GFRPTSD@lockton.com and provide your 

contact information to schedule a follow-up call.  To speak with a Program representative, 
please contact Lindsey Albright at 706.877.6400 or Meghan Murray at 678.361.0886. 

 

 Starting in August/September 2024, GMA and ACCG will contact its members directly with 
information on the program and how to obtain a quote and secure coverage compliant with 
the Act with a January 1, 2025 effective date. 

 

Q. If a first responder is employed by two public entities, which public entity is required to pay 
the cost of the insurance? 

A. The program will bill both public entities 50% of the required premium. 

 
Q. If a first responder is employed by public entity A and volunteers at public entity B, which 

public entity is required to pay the cost of the insurance? 

A. Public entity A, the place of employment, is required to pay the cost of the insurance.  
 
Q. If a first responder volunteers at public entity A and B, which public entity is required to pay 

the cost of the insurance? 
A. The program will bill both public entities 50% of the required premium.  
 

Q. If a public entity hires a first responder in the middle of the billing cycle, is it required to pay 
back premium for the newly hired first responder? 

A. No.  While the first responder is eligible on the first day of service, the public entity would 
include the newly hired first responder in its upcoming eligibility roster.  

 
Q. May a public entity increase the lifetime benefits above those required under the Act? 
A. The GMA and ACCG Programs allow a public entity to increase PTSD coverage in two ways: 

• Increasing the lump-sum benefit from $3,000 to $5,000, $10,000 or $15,000 

• Increasing the monthly disability benefit for volunteers from $1,500 to $2,000 



1  

CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2024-22 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GUYTON AMENDING THE CITY OF GUYTON 
EMPLOYMENT HANDBOOK; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS AND 
PARTS THEREOF IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 
WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Guyton, Georgia is authorized by 
O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3 to adopt ordinances and resolutions relating to its property, affairs, and local 
government; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 3.15 of the Charter of the City of Guyton provides that the City Council shall 
adopt rules and regulations concerning personnel policies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted a personnel policy in September 2021 titled “City of 
Guyton Employment Handbook”; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to amend the City of Guyton Employment 
Handbook; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA IN A REGULAR MEETING ASSEMBLED AND 
PURSUANT TO LAWFUL AUTHORITY THEREOF, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. Amendment to the City of Guyton Employment Handbook. The sections titled “Paid 
Time Off (PTO) & Benefits,” “Using PTO,” and “PTO ‘Sell Back’” on Pages 56 through 58 of 
the City of Guyton Employment Handbook shall be amended and restated to now read as follows: 
 

Paid Time Off (PTO) & Benefits 
 

The City of Guyton recognizes we all need opportunities to enjoy time away from work and 
we all have personal needs that occasionally impact our work obligations. All regular, full-
time employees will be granted paid time off (PTO) annually on their initial date of 
employment with the city on an annual basis once they fulfill their introductory period. The 
PTO “bank” is to be used for sick days, vacation, personal days, and other requests to 
be absent from work. Please keep in mind attendance expectations and refer to the 
Attendance section of this handbook. 
 
 
 
 



2  

Using PTO 
 

1. Regular, full-time employees begin accruing PTO upon completion of the introductory 
period. The full annual number of eligible hours will be available upon eligibility.  

2. The City encourages all eligible employees to use their benefit of the paid time off away 
from work.  

3. Employees that have used at least 40 hours of PTO throughout the year may carry over 
up to 40 hours of unused PTO at the end of the year. In addition, note the option for 
PTO “sell back” in the next section.  

3. Exempt employees may take half days (4 hours at the time) of PTO. Non-exempt 
employees may request days off only in full days.  

4. Upon voluntary resignation or retirement from the City, up to 40 hours of unused PTO 
may be paid out, assuming the employee has fulfilled an adequate notice period. Upon 
involuntary separation from the City (termination for cause), unused PTO is forfeited.  

 
PTO ‘Sell Back’ 
 
Employees with PTO time remaining at the end of the calendar year may have the option to 
“sell back” those days to the City and receive compensation instead of paid time off. The 
“sell back” period will occur annually from November 1st until December 31st of the present 
year. Up to eighty (80) hours (or 86 hours for police personnel), of unused PTO may be 
requested for Sell Back each calendar year if the following conditions are met:  
 
1. Forty (40) hours of Paid Time Off (36 hours for police personnel) has been used by the 

employee during the previous twelve (12) months;  
2. At least forty (40) hours of Paid Time Off remain following the “sell back” to cover any 

unanticipated absences; 
3. The total number of hours requested to sell back is less than the total number of hours of 

accrued annual leave on the date of the request (an employee may not request to sell 
back more hours than they have accrued);  

4. The request must be made in writing to the Department Head.  
 
Upon written request prior to a notice of termination, an employee may also be permitted to 
use up to forty (40) hours of unused PTO to repay the City for any just debt owing to the 
City for which a payroll deduction would be authorized. The use of PTO to pay the debt 
shall be in lieu of a cash payment or payroll deduction from the employee’s earnings. 

 
Section 2. Severability. If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this resolution is held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 
way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this resolution. 

 
Section 3. Repealer. All ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict with this resolution 
are hereby repealed. 

 
Section 4. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption 



3  

by the City Council. 
 
 
SO RESOLVED, this    day of November, 2024. 

 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 
 
 

 

Andy Harville, Mayor 
 
Attest: 

 
Fabian Mann, City Clerk 





CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2024-23 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GUYTON TO REPEAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 
2024-19, WHICH AMENDED THE DISCIPLINARY APPEAL PROCEDURE IN THE 

CITY OF GUYTON EMPLOYMENT HANDBOOK; TO PROVIDE FOR 
SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; TO REPEAL ALL 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS AND PARTS THEREOF IN CONFLICT 
HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 
WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Guyton, Georgia is authorized by 
O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3 to adopt ordinances and resolutions relating to its property, affairs, and local 
government;  
 
WHEREAS, Section 3.15 of the Charter of the City of Guyton provides that the City Council shall 
adopt rules and regulations concerning personnel policies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted a personnel policy in September 2021 titled “City of 
Guyton Employment Handbook”; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution Number 2024-19, which amended the 
disciplinary appeal procedure in the City of Guyton Employment Handbook; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has now determined that the amendment set forth in Resolution 
Number 2024-19 is unnecessary; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA IN A REGULAR MEETING ASSEMBLED AND 
PURSUANT TO LAWFUL AUTHORITY THEREOF, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
Section 1. Repeal. Resolution Number 2024-19 is hereby repealed in its entirety.  
 
Section 2. Severability. If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this resolution is held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 
way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this resolution.   
 
Section 3. Repealer. All ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict with this resolution 
are hereby repealed. 
 
Section 4. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption 
by the City Council. 



2 
 

SO RESOLVED, this __ day of December, 2024. 
 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 

 

              
      Andy Harville, Mayor 
       
Attest:       

       
Fabian Mann, City Clerk   

 
 



CITY OF GUYTON 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2024-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GUYTON TO AMEND THE DISCIPLINARY 
APPEAL PROCEDURE IN THE CITY OF GUYTON EMPLOYMENT HANDBOOK; 

TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; TO 
REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS AND PARTS THEREOF IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Guyton, Georgia is authorized by 
O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3 to adopt ordinances and resolutions relating to its property, affairs, and local 
government;  
 
WHEREAS, Section 3.15 of the Charter of the City of Guyton provides that the City Council shall 
adopt rules and regulations concerning personnel policies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted a personnel policy in September 2021 titled “City of 
Guyton Employment Handbook”; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to amend the City of Guyton Employment 
Handbook;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY 
OF THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA IN A REGULAR MEETING ASSEMBLED AND 
PURSUANT TO LAWFUL AUTHORITY THEREOF, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
Section 1. Amendment to the City of Guyton Employment Handbook. The section titled “Appeal 
Procedure” on Page 37 of the City of Guyton Employment Handbook shall be amended and 
restated to now read as follows:  
 

To ensure consistent treatment, all progressive counseling actions may be subject to 
appeal should an employee feel that he/she has been disciplined unjustly or too harshly.  

 
1. An employee may appeal a disciplinary action in writing to their Department Head 

stating the specific basis for the employee’s complaint and the specific relief 
desired.  

o The appeal must be submitted within ten (10) business days after receiving 
the disciplinary action. 

o After considering all relevant information provided by the employee and 
conducting any additional investigation necessary, the Department Head 
shall communicate a written decision to the employee.  



2 
 

o A copy of the appeal and the Department Head’s decision, along with any 
supporting documentation, shall be sent to City Manager.  
 

2. The decision of the Department Head may be further appealed to the City 
Manager. 
o The appeal must be submitted in writing to the City Manager by the 

employee within ten (10) business days from receipt of the Department 
Head’s decision. 

o After considering all relevant information provided by the employee and 
conducting any additional investigation necessary, the City Manager shall 
communicate a written decision to the employee.  

 
3. The decision of the City Manager may be further appealed to the City Council.  

o The appeal must be submitted in writing to the City Council by the 
employee within ten (10) business days from receipt of the City Manager’s 
decision.  

o The City Council shall review the appeal and the City Manager’s decision 
along with any supporting documentation and shall render a decision after 
holding a public hearing. The employee may submit an additional written 
statement or further documentation for consideration by the City Council. 

o In cases of suspension and/or termination, the employee may be placed on 
unpaid leave from the date of the Department Head’s decision through the 
date of the City Council’s decision. 
 

Employees may not appeal layoffs, reorganizations, restructuring, pay freezes, furloughs, 
or City Council actions.  
 
Failure by the employee to appeal the action/decision within the time periods prescribed 
above shall be grounds for automatic dismissal of the appeal.  

 
Section 2. Severability. If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this resolution is held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 
way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this resolution.   
 
 
Section 3. Repealer. All ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict with this resolution 
are hereby repealed. 
 
 
Section 4. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption 
by the City Council. 
 
 



3 
 

 
 
SO RESOLVED, this __ day of November, 2024. 
 
 

CITY OF GUYTON 

 

              
      Andy Harville, Mayor 
       
Attest:       

       
Fabian Mann, City Clerk   

 



















The mission of Effingham Georgia Green (EGG) is to create, educate, and advocate for a greener 
Effingham County, Georgia, where nature thrives along with people.  

Earth Day April 2025 
Effingham Georgia Green (EGG) Proposal for Guyton City Council, submitted by Rita Elliott 

Proposal: The Earth Day Festival on the downtown trail in Guyton has been a huge success for the past two years.  EGG 
is willing to continue this event for residents of Guyton and its visitors. If Guyton provides the same venue and 
arrangement in 2025 as previously, then Effingham Georgia Green (EGG) will create, administer, run, and dismantle an 
Earth Day Festival in April of that year in tandem with the city’s spring Sale Along the Trail. Since Earth Day is on a 
Tuesday in 2025, either the Saturday prior (April 19) or the Saturday after (April 26) would be appropriate to hold the 
festival. 

Goals 
1. To create an educational and enjoyable festival for children and adults.
2. To educate residents of Guyton and Effingham County about escalating environmental issues facing us.
3. To provide specific, relevant hands-on activities and information.
4. To motivate residents to do tangible things long after the festival ends that will make their city and county a greener,
healthier, more enjoyable place in which to live, work and play.

Potential Components 
1. Booths (tables and/or tents) operated by environmental organizations. Encouraging hands-on activities and “green”
take-away items.
2. Vendors. Selling environmentally useful or friendly items.
3. Make/Take/Discover Tent. Short (10-20 minute) mini workshops and project creation activities occurring
approximately every 30 minutes. and/or
4. Performance Tent. Music as well as performances about relevant topics.
5. Giant Insect Parade. Participants wear insect, plant, and animal costumes in the opening parade.

Methods 
1. EGG will contact potential participants and sign-up those who want to participate.
2. Participants will receive from EGG information and a specific marked spot to set up their booth. (City of Guyton will 
mark 10” squares on the ground, each with a blank vendor sign that EGG will label.)
3. EGG will encourage environmentally-sound festivities (recycling, using green products, discouraging non-green items 
(ie balloons, plastic promotional materials), etc.)
4. EGG and the City of Guyton will advertise the event.
5. EGG will have booths and will be there before, during, and after the event to coordinate, educate, facilitate, and clean 
up Earth Day Festival items.
6. Vendors associated with Earth Day will pay a $40 per booth fee to the City of Guyton. Individuals and organizations 
who are not selling anything will not be charged a fee. EGG will charge no fees.



AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC Agreement 

This Agreement is entered into this __ day of ____, 2024, between the City of 
Guyton, Georgia (the “City”) and AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC (“AlcineXtreme”).  

WHEREAS, AlcineXtreme is a local fitness business dedicated to promoting 
health and wellness in the community; 

WHEREAS, AlcineXtreme desires to provide fitness classes and other fitness 
services at the Guyton Gymnasium located at 505 Magnolia St. Guyton, Georgia 
(the “Gym”);  

WHEREAS, AlcineXtreme submitted a proposal to the City outlining the fitness 
services it wishes to provide at the Gym, a true and correct copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference; and   

WHEREAS, AlcineXtreme is permitted to provide fitness classes and other 
fitness services at the Gym subject to the provisions of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and of the 
following commitments and mutual obligations, AlcineXtreme and the City agree as 
follows: 

1. At a minimum, AlcineXtreme shall offer one free fitness class per week at the Gym
to be open to all members of the community and surrounding area.

2. Prior to holding each fitness class or otherwise providing fitness services at the
Gym, AlcineXtreme shall coordinate with the City and confirm there are no other
events or activities scheduled at the Gym for that date. If another event or activity
is scheduled at the Gym for that date, the City in its sole discretion may, in whole
or in part, restrict AlcineXtreme’s use of the Gym.

3. AlcineXtreme will ensure that all individuals participating in fitness classes or
otherwise receiving fitness related services at the Gym shall sign a liability waiver,
the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B. Failure by AlcineXtreme to do so
will constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

4. AlcineXtreme shall provide the City with a certificate of insurance evidencing
general liability coverage and naming the City as an additional insured. Such
certificate of insurance must be delivered to the City prior to holding any fitness
classes or providing any fitness services at the Gym.

5. It is understood and agreed that AlcineXtreme is not and shall not be deemed an
independent contractor or employee of the City. AlcineXtreme shall supervise the
performance of its agents and employees and shall have sole control over the
manner and means by which it provides fitness services. Nothing in this
Agreement will be interpreted as creating any relationship of principal and agent,
partnership or joint venture between AlcineXtreme and the City.

6. AlcineXtreme agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and its
affiliates, elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and representatives from
and against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs, and expenses

1



(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) that in any way arise out of or are related to 
AlcineXtreme’s use of the Gym or provision of fitness services at the Gym.   

7. This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding among the
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior
and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, inducements and conditions,
express or implied, oral or written, of any nature whatsoever with respect to the
subject matter hereof. The express terms hereof control and supersede any course
of performance and/or usage of the trade inconsistent with any of the terms hereof.

8. This Agreement will terminate one (1) year after execution if not otherwise
renewed.

9. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may terminate this Agreement upon
seven (7) days written notice to the other party. Such notice shall be effective upon
delivery and may be provided through email or certified mail.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all Parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day
and year first above written. 

ALCINEXTREME FITNESS LLC 

By:  _____________________________________ 
Alcine Gross, Owner 

Date:   ______________________ 

CITY OF GUYTON 

By:  _____________________________________ 
Hon. Andy Harville, Mayor 

Attest: _____________________________________ 
Fabian Mann, City Clerk 

Date:  

2



EXHIBIT A – AlcineXtreme Proposal  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



4



5



6



EXHIBIT B – Liability Waiver  

7



AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC Liability Waiver  
This Agreement is between AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC, City of Guyton, Georgia, and 

individuals who may participate in finesses classes at the Guyton Gymnasium located at 505 
Magnolia St. Guyton, Georgia (the “Gym”). 

I ____________________________________ (print name) hereby agree to the following: 

I am participating in fitness classes and receiving fitness services provided by AlcineXtreme 
Fitness LLC at the Gym (“AlcineXtreme Fitness Classes”). I recognize that AlcineXtreme Fitness 
Classes require physical exertion that may be strenuous and may cause physical injuries, which 
may include, but are not limited to: contusions, muscle strains, sprains, broken bones, lacerations, 
cardiac malfunction, and head, neck, and back injuries. I am fully aware of the risks and hazards 
involved and knowingly choose to voluntarily participate in the AlcineXtreme Fitness Classes. 

I understand that it is my responsibility to consult with a physician prior to and regarding my 
participation in AlcineXtreme Fitness Classes. I represent and warrant that I am physically fit and 
have no medical condition that would prevent my full participation in AlcineXtreme Fitness 
Classes. 

I understand that my presence in the Gym and my use of the Gym involves risk, including the risk 
of slipping or falling on uneven or slippery floors. I hereby knowingly and freely assume all risk 
and responsibility for any and all damage to property or bodily and/or personal injury, including 
death, in connection with my use of the Gym. 

In consideration of being permitted to participate in AlcineXtreme Fitness Classes, I voluntarily 
and knowingly agree to assume full responsibility for any and all risks, injuries, or damages, 
known or unknown, which I might incur as a result of participating in the program and 
acknowledge my informed consent to do so. 

I, my heirs, spouse, and legal representatives forever release, hold harmless, waive, discharge, and 
covenant not to sue the City of Guyton (including its agents, employees, and officials) for any 
injury or death resulting from or caused by my voluntary participation in AlcineXtreme Fitness 
Classes and/or use of the Gym, whether caused by the negligence of AlcineXtreme Fitness LLC, 
the City of Guyton, or otherwise. 

The undersigned agrees that this waiver and release is intended to be as broad and inclusive as 
permitted by the laws of the state of Georgia. I have read the above release and waiver of liability 
and fully understand its content. I voluntarily agree to the terms and conditions stated above.  

 

__________________________________ ______________________________ 
Printed Name of Participant    Date 
 

__________________________________ ______________________________ 
Participant Signature     Participant Phone Number 

8





Team Meeting Minutes for 11/22/2024   PI # 0019876 Effingham County  
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

1. Scope 

The proposed project is to construct new sidewalks, necessary drainage, and crosswalks at 5 locations in the city of Guyton. Each location is described below: 

 
a. Gracen Road – Gracen Road beginning at Summer Place Drive and concluding at the existing Pilgrim Baptist Church walking trail. One crosswalk is 

proposed at Del-A-Rae Circle at its intersection with Gracen Road.  
b. Magnolia Street – Magnolia Road beginning at 7th St and concluding at Samuel Smalls Ave. Proposed construction also includes crosswalks at 7th Street, 

Gordon Street, Brogdon Road, Dilmus Jackson Street, and Samuel Smalls Avenue. Proposed construction also includes drainage improvements including 
storm drain pipe, flumes, and curb and gutter; filling ditches may be needed. 

c. SR 119/ Springfield Avenue – SR 119/Springfield Ave beginning at the end of existing sidewalk and concluding at Poplar Street Extension. Proposed 
construction also includes a crosswalk at Poplar Street Extension, drainage improvements, including storm drain pipe and curb and gutter; filling ditches 
may be needed.  

 This road is the highest priority for city ي
d. SR 17/Central Boulevard – SR 17/Central Blvd beginning at Guyton Station subdivision (currently under construction) and concluding at the existing 

sidewalk. Proposed construction also includes drainage improvements, including storm drain pipe, flumes, and curb and  gutter; filing ditches may be 
needed.  

  Water and sewer are proposed on the east side of SR 17 for the new subdivision under construction ي
  GDOT is considering a project on SR 17 at the entrance to the new subdivision under construction (Guyton Station) ي

e. Macedonia Street – Macedonia St beginning at Anderson Ave and concluding at Samuel Smalls Ave.  
f. General Comments  

 One side of each location was proposed for construction, but each location will be evaluated for construction on both sides, Guyton will ي
determine which alternative is preferred 

 Utilities are located on each location ي
 

2. Cost 
Total authorized PE = $794,554.00, 4/28/23 

a. TO1 = concept approval 
            $721,843.07 = Total  
            $577,474.46 = 80% Federal  
            $144,368.61 = 20% local match  

  
b. TO2 = Preliminary Plan Review 
            $400,000 to $500,000 = Total estimate 
            $320,000 to $400,000 = 80% federal  
            $80,000 to $100,000 = 20% local match  

  
c. TO3 = Letting for Construction (construction bid)  



Team Meeting Minutes for 11/22/2024   PI # 0019876 Effingham County  
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

            $200,000 to $250,000 = Total estimate 
            $160,000 to $200,000 = 80% federal  
            $40,000 to $50,000 = 20% local match  

  
3. Guyton’s decision anticipated by 12/10 city council meeting 
 
 
 



  

 

 
 

ABSTRACT 
This proposal is submitted 

for Guyton’s City Council 

to consider installing 

additional lighting along 

the Walking Trail on 

Central Ave. 
 

 

Walking Trail Lighting 
Project 

Proposal 



 

 

1 | P a g e  
G u y t o n ’ s  W a l k i n g  T r a i l  L i g h t i n g  P r o p o s a l  

P r e s e n t e d  B y :  G u y t o n ’ s  D o w n t o w n  D e v e l o p m e n t  A u t h o r i t y  

 

Introduction 
 

The Walking Trail that runs through the center of the City of Guyton on Central Ave is a 

wonderful outdoor space for community enjoyment.  Whether for leisurely walks or scheduled 

events, more individuals are taking advantage of one of Guyton’s greatest assets.  However, it 

becomes a little difficult to safely enjoy the southern charm of the Walking Trail in the evening 

hours due to the Trail’s insufficient lighting.  With that in mind, it is of the utmost importance 

that our citizens and the community at large feel a sense of safety enjoying the Trail – especially 

during the evening hours.    

 

 

Project Rationale 

 

As a result of the Walking Trail’s insufficient lighting, the Downtown Development Authority 

(DDA) of Guyton is proposing for consideration of Guyton’s City Council the installation of 

additional lights along the Walking Trail.  To facilitate this consideration, Dr. Miller Bargeron, 

Jr., the DDA’s Chairman, contacted Brian Keith Rose, GA Power’s Lighting Executive assigned 

to the Guyton area, to determine the available options for fulfilling this lighting project.  Mr. 

Rose presented the following two (2) options under GA Power’s Lease Program.   

 

Option #1: 
Option #1 consists of paying an upfront buy-down fee of $3,264.00 per installed light.  This 

option includes the light pole, installation, energy, fuel, and ongoing maintenance.  The monthly 

fee per light for this option is $23.87.     

 

Option #2: 
Option #2 consists of paying no upfront fee per installed light.  This option includes the light 

pole, installation, energy, fuel, and ongoing maintenance.  The monthly fee per light for this 

option is $64.84.     

 

Optional Equipment: 
There is also a need for additional electrical outlets around the Walking Trail.  GA Power can 

install electrical outlets on selected light poles for greater access to electricity along the Trail for 

various events.  The cost to install each electrical outlet is approximately $750.00.  The 

installation cost cannot be added to the monthly bill.     

 

Benefits of Georgia Power’s Lease Program 
 

• No Up-front capital investment option.   

 

• Guaranteed maintenance included.  GA Power will repair a broken light within three to five 

days after it is reported. 

 

• Flat monthly rate.  With the flat payment, there are no unpredictable expenses associated with 

the maintenance and upkeep of the system. 



 

 

2 | P a g e  
G u y t o n ’ s  W a l k i n g  T r a i l  L i g h t i n g  P r o p o s a l  

P r e s e n t e d  B y :  G u y t o n ’ s  D o w n t o w n  D e v e l o p m e n t  A u t h o r i t y  

 

• No ownership risk.  Georgia Power will retain ownership of the lighting system and provide 

all maintenance parts and labor.  This includes repairs or replacement. 

 

*** See the Streetworks attachment for information on the proposed light pole.   

 

 

Project Proposal 
 

Based on the current level of lighting along the Walking Trail, the DDA proposes that City 

Council consider adding 15 – 20 light poles to provide optimal lighting for the Walking Trail.  In 

addition, the DDA proposes that 3 – 4 electrical outlets are added to select light poles.  The 

additional lights should be installed in areas in need of the most lighting, including the areas 

boarding Gracen Road.  The electrical outlets will be placed where they are deemed most useful.   

 

With the City of Guyton’s budgetary capacity not known, a recommended GA Power Leasing 

Program option is not included in this proposal.  It is suggested that City Council review the cost 

options and select an option that exhibits the best fiduciary responsibility. 

 

 

Conclusion 
 

The Downtown Development Authority presents this proposal to improve the lure of the 

downtown district for individuals and businesses alike.  With the citizens of Guyton and the 

community at large in mind, this investment for safety is proposed to City Council for 

consideration.  Feel free to modify the proposed number of lights and electrical outlets as needed 

to accommodate any budget parameters.    

 

 

Contact For Questions/Additional Information 
 

Dr. Miller Bargeron, Jr., DDA Chairman 

Miller.Bargeron@cityofguyton.com 

 

 

Or  

 

Brian Keith Rose, Lighting Executive, GA Power 

bkrose@southernco.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

3 | P a g e  
G u y t o n ’ s  W a l k i n g  T r a i l  L i g h t i n g  P r o p o s a l  

P r e s e n t e d  B y :  G u y t o n ’ s  D o w n t o w n  D e v e l o p m e n t  A u t h o r i t y  

 

 



 

 

4 | P a g e  
G u y t o n ’ s  W a l k i n g  T r a i l  L i g h t i n g  P r o p o s a l  

P r e s e n t e d  B y :  G u y t o n ’ s  D o w n t o w n  D e v e l o p m e n t  A u t h o r i t y  

 

 


























